2001

# J. P. Koch, Inc. v. JC Penney Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is a suit to recover money allegedly owing for labor and material furnished pursuant to a construction contract. Suit was filed under the provisions of Section 14-2-2 U.C.A., 1953.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The court granted a Motion for Summary Judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant-appellant J. C. Penney Company in the amount of \$56,-147.97 with interest from February 22, 1972 at the rate of six percent per annum until date of judgment, and thereafter at the rate of eight percent per annum. The lower court also entered an Order Conditionally Staying Enforcement of the Judgment. From such judgment and order defendant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of the judgment and a judgment in defendant's favor as a matter of law or in the alternative a mandate that the case should be tried. Defendant also seeks an order declaring the condition

contained in the Order Staying Enforcement of the Judgment to be void.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On about June 6, 1970, the defendant J. C. Penney Company entered into a contract with the defendant Skyline Construction Company for the erection of a store building in Bountiful, Utah. Skyline Construction Company was the general contractor for the project. On or about August 31, 1970, Skyline Construction Company entered into a subcontract with the plaintiff J. P. Koch, Inc., by the terms of which the plaintiff was to furnish materials and to perform labor incident to the general mechanical portion of the construction of the defendant Penney Company's building. The general contract, as originally signed, required that Skyline Construction Company furnish a bond to guarantee payment of bills for labor and material furnished in the construction of the building. On or about September 18, 1970, the bond required was deleted from the general contract.

In performance of the subcontract, plaintiff furnished material and labor for the construction of the building of the defendant J. C. Penney Company of a reasonable value of \$583,086.00. Upon completion of the contract, according to the books of the defendant Skyline Construction Company, there were backcharges or other lawful offsets against such amounts of material and labor in the sum of \$2,160.64, leaving a net amount of \$580,925.36.

In accordance with the provisions of the general contract between the defendant J. C. Penney Company and defendant Skyline Construction Company, progress payments were made by Penney Company to the general contractor from time to time as work progressed. In accordance with the contract and the general conditions thereof, payment requests were accompanied and supported by lien waivers from various subcontractors and materialmen, which waivers in most instances, showed the total amount of money received by each of the individuals (R.95-104). Under date of October 31, 1971, plaintiff furnished a lien waiver acknowledging receipt from the general contractor, on account of work performed and material furnished of \$569,608.34 (R.104). In reliance on the lien waivers so furnished, the defendant J. C. Penney Company paid to the general contractor, Skyline Construction Company on account of the mechanical work performed the total sum of \$569,608.34. The defendant J. C. Penney Company admitted in its answer on file herein that there remained due and owing the sum of \$11,317.02 and paid such amount to the Clerk of the Court as a tender of all amounts owing.

By its answer, the defendant Skyline Construction Company admitted that it owed to the plaintiff the sum of \$56,147.97. Skyline Construction Company is now insolvent.

The plaintiff filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. At the hearing thereon, the depositions taken in the case were ordered opened and published. On November 29, 1973 the Court granted plaintiff's Motion

and entered a Partial Summary Judgment (R.30-32). Subsequent thereto and under the date of January 9, 1974, and Court entered an Amended Partial Summary (R.26-28), in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant J. C. Penney Company in the amount of \$56,147.97 plus interest thereon from February 29, 1972 at the rate of 6% per annum until entry of judgment and thereafter at the rate of 8% per annum (R.26).

The Amended Partial Summary Judgment expressly finds that in reliance on the total figures in the lien waiver, defendant J. C. Penney Company "paid to defendant Skyline Construction Company the sum of \$569,608.34 shown on the last lien waiver upon which disbursement was made, which leaves due and owing from J. C. Penney Company to the plaintiff the sum of \$11,317.02, exclusive of interest" (R.27, par.7).

The court further finds that the defendant J. C. Penney Company "could not justifiably rely on the lien waivers or the figures contained therein and said reliance is not a defense" (R. 28), and reserved for future determination the validity of the claimed backcharge.

Under date of April 22, 1974, the defendant J. C. Penney Company filed a Motion to Stay the Enforcement of the Judgment and upon hearing, the Court entered an order conditionally staying the enforcement thereof (R.11-12). The conditions were that interest on the judgment should run from June 6, 1974 on the principal and then accrued interest:

"at the current prime rate calculated by averaging the daily rate for each month and that rate



will be applied for each month from June 6, 1974 until the date of payment of any judgment awarded to the plaintiff" (R.11) and that the defendant Penney Company pay to the plaintiff the sum of \$11,317.02 together with interest at 6% per annum, being the sum the defendant Penney Company had admitted was still owing and unpaid on the total subcontract. Subsequent to the entry of the said order, the defendant J. C. Penney Company did pay the sum of \$11,317.02 together with interest as shown by the Partial Satisfaction of Judgment signed by the plaintiff's attorney (R.10).

Subsequent thereto and under date of September 11, 1974 the defendant J. C. Penney Company and the plaintiff settled and compromised the issue as to the claim of offset and all of the parties stipulated and agreed that the Amended Partial Summary Judgment should be declared to be and become a final judgment on the date an order was signed by the Court (R.7-8). Under date of September 11, 1974 the Court signed an order providing that as of the date thereof the Amended Partial Summary Judgment should be and become the final judgment in the case. The defendant J. C. Penney Company thereupon filed Notice of Appeal.

## POINT I

### LIABILITY UNDER SECTION 14-2-2 U.C.A., 1953 IS NOT ABSOLUTE

The basis of plaintiff's suit is the liability imposed by Section 14-2-2 U.C.A., 1953 which provides as follows:

“Any person subject to the provisions of this chapter, who shall fail to obtain such good and sufficient bond, or to exhibit the same, as herein required, shall be personally liable to all persons who have furnished materials or performed labor under the contract for the reasonable value of such materials furnished or labor performed, not exceeding, however, in any case the prices agreed upon. Actions to recover on such liability shall be commenced within one year from the last date the last materials were furnished or the labor performed.’

It is clear in the plaintiff’s Memorandum of Authorities submitted to the lower court in support of the Motion for Summary Judgment that plaintiff’s contention is that liability under this statute is absolute. The lower court appears to follow this argument since in paragraph 8 of the Amended Partial Summary Judgment (R.28) it is stated:

“J. C. Penney could not justifiably rely on the lien waivers or the figures contained therein, and *said reliance is not a defense* to the claim of the plaintiff.” (Emphasis added)

The statute itself as quoted verbatim above does not appear to impose absolute liability and plaintiff has cited no cases from Utah or other jurisdictions so holding.

This court has stated that decisions interpreting Section 14-2-2 U.C.A., 1953, known as the bonding statute, and Section 38-1-3 U.C.A., 1953, known as the lien statute, deal with the same or similar rights and, therefore, cases decided under one statute are applicable in determining the application of the other. The first such de-

cision was *Rio Grande Lumber Company vs. Darke*, 50 U. 114, 167 P.241. This was an attack on the constitutionality of the statute imposing liability on the owner for failure to require a completion bond. (Now Section 14-2-2 U.C.A., 1953.) The court held that the statute was constitutional and stated at page 124 Utah reports:

“The statute of Utah now under review is auxiliary to our mechanics’ lien law and just as much in aid of it as if it had been made a part of it and incorporated in the same chapter . . . under the bond statute, he (the owner) must take care to exact the bond and under the lien statute, he must take care to hold the fund.” (Parenthetical phrase added.)

In *King Brothers, Inc. vs. Utah Dry Kiln Company*, 13 U.2d 339, 374 P.2d 254 it was stated:

“Because of the common purposes of these lien and contractors’ bond statutes and their practically identical language, adjudications as to what is lienable under the former are helpful in determining the proper application of the latter.”

To the same effect, see also *Crane Company v. Utah Motor Park, Inc.*, 8 U.2d 413, 335 P.2d 837.

Keeping in mind then the applicability of cases decided under the materialmen’s and mechanics’ lien statute to the bonding statutes, there are a number of decisions of this court. Factual situations similar to the present case have been considered on several occasions.

In *Zions First National Bank v. Reginald L. Saxton, et al.*, 27 U.2d 76, 493 P.2d 602, the owner, defendant Saxton, obtained a loan from plaintiff to do certain con-

struction on a five acre tract of land. Shortly thereafter the owner advised the contractor that construction was to be expanded to include a twenty acre tract. As work progressed, the owner and the contractor, as an inducement to plaintiff to advance funds, executed a certificate that the labor and materials were used in the construction. Upon receiving checks, they endorsed the same below language stating that they waived and released all lien rights. The contractor claims a lien on the original five acre tract and also on the additional fifteen acres.

In deciding the matter, the Court cited *Holbrook v. Webster's Inc.*, as controlling and said:

"In signing a lien waiver Hamilton waived all liens for the work done, and it matters not that unknown to the plaintiff bank some of the work for which money was received was performed on the 15-acre tract."

In *Holbrook v. Webster's, Inc.*, 7 U.2d 148, 360 P.2d 661, the contractor had signed a request for funds directed to a lender and on the same document was a receipt and lien release which recited that it was delivered to the lender to induce it to make payment of the stated sum and that the materialmen waived, released and discharged any lien or right to lien that he then had or may thereafter acquire against the real property described in the document. This Court stated:

"We are of the opinion that no genuine issue of fact is presented by the lien release. The only issue is one of law. It does not lie in the mouth of appellant to say that he was mistaken in the legal effect of the release or that he did not in-

tend that it should be given the only legal effect of which it is susceptible."

The supplier had filed an affidavit stating that the release was only intended to release the property so far as the receipted amount is concerned. Going on the court said,

"The release is susceptible of only one meaning and absent fraud cannot be varied except by agreement of the parties."

A summary judgment entered below denying the materialmen a lien right was affirmed.

In *West v. Pinkston*, 44 U. 123, 138 P. 1152, plaintiff entered into a subcontract to do brick work on a dwelling house and after completion of the work the general contractor delivered his personal check to the plaintiff for the agreed price. Plaintiff delivered a receipt for payment so that the contractor could obtain the money due the owner on the contract price. Thereafter, the contractor delivered the receipt to the owner and relying on the receipt and the contractor's representation that he had paid the plaintiff, the owner paid the contractor. The contractor failed to deposit the check from the owner and refused to pay the same or any part thereof to the plaintiff. Suit was brought to foreclose a lien against the property. In deciding that plaintiff was entitled to no relief, the court said at page 129 Ut. Rep:

"Appellant (plaintiff) therefore clearly authorized as well as induced the respondent to pay the contractor the \$850.00 which, but for the receipt of appellant, she undoubtedly would have paid to

him. After having induced respondent to pay the money, we cannot see how appellant can complain. In legal effect, she paid the money as directed by him, and he must look to the contractor and not to her for the same. Respondent thereafter had a right to deal with all others who had any claim upon her as though appellant was out of the case."

Going on the Court said:

"We remark that this conclusion is based upon the undisputed facts that the appellant issued the receipt to the contractor with the understanding and for the purpose that he should use the same to obtain the money due to appellant as subcontractor from the respondent; that it was fully understood between the appellant and the contractor that the latter had no money in the bank to pay the check, but that such money had to be obtained from the respondent; and that the receipt was to be used as a means to obtain the money. Upon these facts, we think the appellant is clearly estopped from making any further claims against the respondent under the statute."

The Court quoted an early Missouri case, *Cote, etc.*,

*Brick Co. v. Sadring*, 68 Mo. App. 15:

"A material man, who executes a receipt of payment in full to the contractor for material furnished for a building, for which he sues the owner, who honestly and without any negligence on their part paid the contractor upon the faith of such receipt, is estopped from saying that the acknowledgment of payment is untrue."

Although *West v. Pinkston* is an old case, it appears from Shepherd's Citator not to have been overruled or

modified and is still the law in the State of Utah.

It has, in fact, been specifically held by this Court that liability under Section 14-2-2 is not absolute. In *Apex Lumber Company v. Commanche Construction Company*, 18 U.2d 119, 417 P.2d 131, in affirming a judgment of no cause of action in favor of the property owners, the Court said:

“Apex urges that (1) the evidence shows Apex supplied material for which it was not wholly paid. Apex is right, but this is not controlling, since such an argument would insure it against any nonpayment which it itself help to produce, as was the case here. Further it says (2) that under the statute it has a cause of action for the unpaid value of the material. Equally this is true, unless it was particeps in creating a defense for its opponents, as was the case here.”

In plaintiff's memorandum in support of the summary judgment, the statement is made that the bond was deleted, “without the knowledge of J. P. Koch, Inc.” This statement seems to imply that Penney Company should have notified Koch of the deletion. It is respectfully submitted that under the factual situation herein set forth, plaintiff is in no position to complain of the absence of the bond. The court's attention is respectfully directed to the final paragraph of Section 14-2-1 U.C.A., 1953:

“The bond herein provided shall be exhibited to any person interested, upon request.”

It is respectfully submitted that the plaintiff had an obligation on its part to ascertain that in fact a bond had

been secured as required by the contract, and that it was sufficient in form and amount.

The defense raised by Penney Company is based on the fact that the conduct of the plaintiff itself resulted in plaintiff's loss. Such defense would be equally valid and available to a bond surety. See *Chicago Bridge and Iron Company v. Reliance Insurance Company*, 46 Ill. 2d 522, 264 N.E.2d 134, wherein it was held that a subcontractor who executed waivers of liens without receiving payment from the general contractor would not be allowed to recover on a bond against a non-consenting surety. To the same effect is *Crane Company v. Parker Construction Company* (Mass) 247 N.E.2d 591, where the Court held that a supplier's agent who gave a heating subcontractor a certificate to the effect that he had been paid for boilers furnished was estopped from asserting a claim against the general contractor and the surety that he had not been paid since the general contractor relied upon the certificate to its detriment, and the general contractor obtained payment for the amount of the boilers. This was the holding notwithstanding the fact that the subcontractor's check representing payment for the boilers was subsequently dishonored. The Court went on to say that the contractor had no duty to make certain that checks had been honored before relying on the certificate of the supplier.

It is respectfully submitted that the law in the State of Utah is clear that where a subcontractor or supplier executes and delivers to the general contractor a lien



waiver knowing that the owner will rely thereon in making payments to the general contractor, the signer of the lien waivers is estopped thereafter to claim a lien or to contend that he has not been paid the amounts shown in such lien waiver. This estoppel operates to barr a cause of action under Section 14-2-2 U.C.A., 1953.

## POINT II

### APPELLANT WAS JUSTIFIED IN RELYING ON THE LIEN WAIVERS

The record shows that the general contract contained a detailed plan for making progress payments, and that this plan was followed (Peterson deposition, ps 5-8). Under this plan, payment requests were submitted periodically by the general contractor. These requests show the percentage of completion for the various trade categories, the amount previously paid on each account, and the amount claimed as presently being due. Payment requests were supported by lien waivers from each of the subcontractors in the various trade categories. The amount on each lien waiver was to at least equal the amount paid on the previous payment request.

Plaintiff was aware of this requirement. In his deposition, Gordon Neiderhauser, co-owner of the plaintiff corporation, said he knew that the lien waivers were required, to support the payment requests, and also that defendant Penney Company would rely on the waivers in making disbursements to the general contractor. (Neiderhauser deposition, p.14, line 25 through p.15, line 13.)

Mr. Neiderhauser identified the lien waivers submitted (R. 95-104) as having been signed by him. He further testified that some of the figures written on the lien waivers were in his handwriting and some were not. He could not recall in all instances whether or not the figures had been filled in at the time he signed the lien waivers. He freely admitted that in some instances signed waivers were left with Skyline Construction without dollar figures filled in, stating that "I assumed that Penney's or Skyline would put in the amount based on their estimate or my estimate to them". (Neiderhauser deposition p.15, line 11). Although he had a copy of the estimate of the value of work completed, he did not take it with him or consult it in filling in any of the amounts on the lien waivers, but simply relied on Skyline to fill in the correct amounts (Deposition, p.16).

Charles D. Peterson, the architect on the project, was asked about the lien waivers submitted. At page 41 of his deposition is a series of questions regarding the accuracy of lien waivers. The witness stated that:

"Every single time I receive a lien waiver and it states on there that an amount of money has been paid, I have always believed that that was a true representation of the monies that had actually been paid by the general contractor to the sub."

Further on the same page the witness stated that he was not aware that any of the lien waivers were a misrepresentation of the facts. He was not aware that Skyline had required subcontractors to submit lien waivers in

advance of payment. On the following page the witness stated that he was not aware that this was a common practice in the construction industry, and that he could not believe that it was.

It is clear from Peterson's deposition that he had no way of knowing what amounts had actually been paid by the contractor from each construction advance to the various subcontractors. Of necessity he relied on the amounts shown as having been received in the lien waivers submitted by each subcontractor. This is not an unreasonable assumption or reliance. The subcontractors were in the best position to know what funds they had received from the general contractor on the job at any given time.

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