2001

J. P. Koch, Inc. v. JC Penney Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN ITS FINDING THAT UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE THE APPELLANT IS LIABLE TO THE RESPONDENT BY VIRTUE OF THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 14-2-1 U.C.A. (1953 AS AMENDED) *ET. SEQ.*

The appellant asserts that it is indebted to the respondent in the sum of only \$11,317.02. The appellant bases this assertion upon the lien waiver dated October 31, 1971. (R. 104). The appellant asserts that it paid the sum of \$579,608.34 to Skyline Construction Company as payment for work performed by the respondent. The prime contractor, Skyline Construction Company failed to pay a total sum of \$58,308.61 exclusive of interest to the respondent.

Under the circumstances of this case, it is clear that the appellant is liable to the respondent in the sum

of \$56,147.97 as a matter of law. Section 14-2-1 U.C.A. (1953 as amended) provides as follows:

“The owner of any interest in land entering into a contract, involving \$500.00 or more, for the construction of any building structure or improvement upon land shall, before any such work is commenced, obtain from the contractor a bond in the sum equal to the contract price with good and sufficient sureties conditioned for the faithful performance of the contract and prompt payment for material furnished and labor performed under the contract. Such bond shall run to the owner and to all other persons as their interest may appear; any person who furnished materials or performed labor for or upon any such building, structure, or improvement, payment for which has not been made, shall have a direct right of action against the sureties upon such bond for the reasonable value of the materials furnished or the labor performed, not exceeding, however, in any case, the prices agreed upon; which right of action shall accrue forty days after the completion, or abandonment, or default in the performance of the work provided for in the contract.”

Section 14-2-2 U.C.A., (1953) provides as follows:

“*Any person* subject to the provisions of this chapter *who shall fail to obtain such good and sufficient bond*, or to exhibit the same, as herein required, *shall be personally liable to all persons who have furnished materials or performed labor* under the contract for the reasonable value of such materials furnished or labor performed, not exceeding, however, in any case, the prices agreed upon. Actions to recover on such liability shall

be commenced within one year from the last date the last materials were furnished or the labor performed . . ." (emphasis added)

As is admitted by the appellant, and is clear from the facts set forth, the appellant failed to require a bond with a good and sufficient surety to guarantee the prompt payment for the material furnished and the labor performed under the contract with Skyline Construction Company. At the time that the respondent submitted its bid to Skyline Construction Company on the appellant's project, said appellant required that such project be a bonded job. Thereafter, the appellant deleted the requirements for bonding on the part of Skyline Construction Company without notice to the respondent due to the savings in costs on the project of approximately \$11,000.00.

This Court has had occasion to construe the meaning of the above quoted statutory language and has held that the owner of the property is liable to the subcontractors and employees of contractors for materials and labor supplied for improvement upon such land even where releases and lien waivers for the entire amount due and owing such person had been signed and delivered to the owner. In fact, however, such persons had not received the entire amount due and owing under the contract and employment agreements. This Court has consistently held that such releases and waivers were given without consideration and thus ineffective.

In the case of *Pierce v. Pepper*, 17 Utah 2d ^{123,} ~~120,~~

405 P.2d 345 (1965), plaintiff's employees were paid by their employer, Pepper, with worthless checks. They went to the defendant owner-builder who paid them for part of their work on condition that they sign releases and give lien waivers which would cover the entire amount of work which they had performed. The plaintiffs proceeded to complete the job, but were still unpaid for their prior labor because of the worthless checks. Recovery against the owner-builder was granted because of his failure to require the contractor to post the statutory contractor's bond as required under Section 14-2-1, U.C.A. (1953 as amended). The court held:

“Failure to require the contractor to file the statutory bond is absolute and not subject to compromise here since the obligation was not dubious, contradictory or otherwise and *any attempt to circumvent the statutory interdiction was without consideration . . .* Having violated it . . . there was *no consideration for the waivers*, and the failure to require the contractor to file a bond to protect these workers under the plain wording of the statute, cannot ameliorate the obligations of the builder from its terms. . . .” (emphasis added)

This Court again had occasion to construe the meaning of this statute in the case of *Roberts Investment Company v. Gibbons and Reed Concrete Products Company*, 22 Utah 2d 105, 449 P.2d 116 (1969). In that case the owner of the property, while proceeding with the building project, employed various contractors to accomplish different phases of the construction. In

attempting to fulfill its contract with the owner, one of the contractors obtained concrete from Gibbons and Reed Concrete Products Company. Subsequently, the owner took over the construction project from that contractor and proceeded to complete the building. The owner thereafter acquired additional concrete from Gibbons and Reed Concrete Products Company. The owner subsequently paid Gibbons and Reed concrete Products Company for the amount of concrete which it had ordered after taking over the construction project from the contractor. Along with this payment, the owner demanded a receipt which recited that the sum mentioned was in full payment for labor and material furnished by Gibbons and Reed for the building in question, and further recited that disputes over amounts due for materials delivered to the owner were waived and settled and Gibbons and Reed released the owner from any and all claims it may have against the owner. The trial court concluded that the release and receipt was a release of all claims of Gibbons and Reed and entered judgment of no cause of action. The Supreme Court reversed and held that (1) the owner's payment of that amount to Gibbons and Reed was not sufficient consideration for the supplier's release of their claim against the contractor, and, (2) under Sections 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 U.C.A. (1953), the owner who had failed to obtain a performance bond from the contractor was liable for the amount owing the suppliers for concrete supplied by them to the Contractor. There was no dispute in the case that the owner had failed to comply with the requirements of

Section 14-2-1, U.C.A. (1953). However, the owner contended that having made the payment and having received the release of all claims from Gibbons and Reed, it was relieved from any liability arising under the statute. The Court, citing *Pierce v. Pepper*, supra, rejected defendant's argument and held that *there was no consideration for the release of the claim against the contractor* and by virtue of non-compliance with the statute, the owner was personally liable for such claims. The Court is confronted with the same type of situation here. The respondent did not receive the money due under the terms of the contract. The waivers given, in addition to being inconsistent, were not supported by any consideration whatsoever.

The appellant has gone to great lengths in its Brief attempting to review the law regarding mechanics' liens. The requirements with which the Court is here concerned are set forth in Sections 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 U.C.A. (1953 as amended). The appellant would have this Court ignore these statutes and merely review the mechanics' liens statutes of the state. We are not here concerned with the respondent's right to a mechanics' lien on the appellant's property, although even under such law, the respondent asserts that it would have had a valid claim.

It is to be noted that the statute in question does not make any qualification whatsoever as to the personal liability of one who fails to comply with the requirements of that statute. Quite the contrary, the statutory

duty to file the bond is mandatory and any attempt to circumvent the statutory interdiction is without consideration. *Pierce v. Pepper*, supra. The appellant has attempted to engraft upon the statute limitations of liability without any legal authority in support of its position. The appellant cites various mechanics' lien cases which are inapplicable when applied to the fact situation with which the Court is here confronted. The appellant cites *Zions First National Bank v. Reginald L. Saxton, et al.*, 27 Utah 2d 76, 493 P.2d 602 (1972) in support of its position. The factual situation in *Saxton* clearly demonstrates its inapplicability herein. In *Saxton*, the appellant had in fact been paid in excess of the amount of his claim. The fact that he signed a lien waiver at the time that he received payment demonstrates that full and adequate consideration was given in exchange for receipt of the lien waiver. The actions of the appellant in *Saxton* subsequent to his receipt of the funds were irrelevant to the consideration before the Court. It should further be noted that the case made no reference whatsoever to Section 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 U.C.A. (1953), and dealt solely with the mechanics' lien statutes.

The same distinctions as above set forth hold true with regard to the case of *Holbrook v. Websters, Inc.*, 7 Utah 2d 148, ³²⁰360 P.2d 661 (1958). The Court specifically found that the appellant had executed the receipt and lien waivers in exchange for good and valuable consideration. It is again important to note that *Holbrook* did not concern itself whatsoever with Section 14-2-1

and 14-2-2 U.C.A. (1953). *Holbrook*, as was the case in *Saxton*, concerned itself strictly with the operation of the mechanics' lien statutes.

The case of *West v. Pinkston*, 44 Utah 123, 138 P. 1152, in addition to being distinguishable on the same basis as the above cases, was decided in 1914. The specific language of the Utah Supreme Court in *West*, as quoted by the appellant in its Brief, clearly states that the decision of the Court was based upon the statutes concerning mechanics' liens as they existed at that time. However, the appellant fails to point out that the "statute" to which the Court referred was not the statute with which the Court is confronted in the case at bar, and indeed such burden would be impossible due to the fact that the statute now in question was not enacted by the Utah Legislature until 1915.

The appellant further cites the two cases of *King Brothers, Inc. v. Utah Dry Kiln Company*, 13 Utah 2d 339, 374 P.2d 254 (1962) and *Crane Company v. Utah Motor Park, Inc.*, 8 Utah 2d 413, 335 P.2d 837. In each of these cases, the Utah Supreme Court looked at cases decided under the mechanics' lien statutes in order to determine what was lienable. After considering whether a leasehold interest constituted an ownership interest which could be lienable in the former and whether a boiler was purchased for resale or whether a contract had been entered into for alteration and repair of the defendants property in the latter, the Court, specifically held in *Crane*, that,

“The owner may escape personal liability by obtaining the bond as required by the statute.”

There are no qualifications of liability imposed by these cases.

The appellant asserts in its Brief that liability under Sections 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 U.C.A. (1953) is not absolute. In support of this proposition the appellant cites the case of *Apex Lumber Company v. Comanche Construction Company*, 18 Utah 2d 119, 417 P.2d 131 (1966). In that case some Utah farmers employed Comanche Construction Company to install turkey enclosures upon their land. In the process, Comanche obtained materials from Apex Lumber Company. Upon completion of the job, Apex Lumber Company accepted promissory notes from the contractor as payment for the materials supplied. Comanche Construction subsequently resorted to bankruptcy, making the promissory notes worthless. Secondly, the evidence demonstrated that Apex allocated in a somewhat arbitrary manner the amounts due from each specific farmer. The *jury found* that Apex had been *paid by virtue of its acceptance of the promissory notes*.

The language quoted by the appellant in its Brief requires analysis. The Court stated that,

“Apex urges that (1) the evidence shows Apex supplied material for which it was not wholly paid. Apex is right, but this is not controlling, since such an argument would insure it against

any non-payment which it itself helped to produce, as was the case here. Further it says, (2) that under the statute it has a cause of action for the unpaid value of the material. Equally, this is true, unless it was particeps in creating a defense for its opponents, as was the case here.

Each of these positions is consistent with the holding in the case and the finding by the jury that Apex simply was estopped by virtue of the fact that it had been paid for the materials supplied in the construction of the turkey enclosures. Apex demanded and received the promissory notes in full payment for the balance due Comanche. Apex, of course, had the option to require cash payment and the fact that it accepted payment through another medium was its own choice. It was thereby estopped by virtue of payment in fact.

Assuming arguendo, that Apex does represent a qualification of the terms of liability imposed by Sections 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 U.C.A. (1953), one must note the policy upon which that qualification rests. In footnote Number 1 at page 131, the Court states:

“This statute can stand a re-evaluation, since it puts the onus of obtaining the contractor’s bond on the *unsuspecting and unknowledgeable householder* who seldom knows of its existence—in favor of the prime supplier, who generally knows all about it but relies on it in sober silence. (emphasis added)”

When one considers this statement by the Court in light of the facts presented in the case at bar, it is im-

mediately apparent that such policy is not involved in this case. J. C. Penney Co. is a highly sophisticated international corporation that has built hundreds of stores across the United States. The appellant is not in the position of the "unsuspecting and unknowledgeable householder" who seldom knows of the existence of the statute. In fact, the appellant knew of the existence of the statute and initially required that a bond be posted by the contractor as security for payment of the materialmen and suppliers on this job. However, upon learning that deletion of this requirement would save the appellant approximately \$11,000.00 in the cost of the project, a change was instituted whereby this requirement was deleted. Thus, one need only turn to the second *Kings Brothers* case, 21 Utah 2d 43, 440 P.2d 17 (1968), wherein the Court specifically required that if the owner fails to comply with Section 14-2-1 and 14-2-2, U.C.A. (1953), "it places upon him the burden of seeing that the labor and materials are paid for." The facts in the case at bar demonstrate that the appellant did not carry its burden as required by the laws of the State of Utah and that there was no consideration given in exchange for the lien waivers supplied by the respondent. The respondent was not paid. (See *Pierce v. Pepper*, supra, and *Roberts Investment Company v. Gibbons and Reed Concrete Products*, supra.)

The appellant in its Brief asserts that the laws of the mechanics' lien statutes, as construed by the various cases handed down by the Utah Supreme Court, should govern the extent of applicability of Section 14-

2-1 and 14-2-2 U.C.A. (1953). The respondent cannot accept this assertion as being the law of the State of Utah. If the mechanics' lien statute is the law which governs the situation with which the Court is now confronted, then why did the Legislature see fit to enact Sections 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 U.C.A. (1953)? The Utah Supreme Court has spoken to this point in the past. In *King Brothers, Inc. v. Utah Dry Kiln Company*, 13 Utah 2d 339, 374 P.2d 254, (1962), the Court said that the mechanics' lien statute was designed to prevent the land holder from taking the benefit of improvements without paying for labor and materials incident thereto. However, the Court noted that the land owner frequently was the loser when the contractor failed to pay for the material and labor supplied. The Court noted that the passage of Sections 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 U.C.A. (1953) was a natural consequence of this inequity and protected the laborer, the materialmen, and the land owner.

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